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Summary

Statement of Purpose

The Tallgrass Prairie National Preserve was established to "preserve, protect, and
interpret for the public an example of a tallgrass prairie ecosystem...and to preserve and
interpret for the public the historic and cultural values represented on the Spring Hill
Ranch.” Established in 1996 as a unit in the national park system, the Tallgrass Prairie
National Preserve includes the land formerly known as the Spring Hill Ranch, located in
the Kansas Flint Hills. The 10,894 acres are dominated by vast regions of native tallgrass
prairie with periodic corridors of woodland along the existing streams and drainage ways.
Of the 400,000 square miles of original tallgrass prairie lands that once covered the North
American continent, less than four percent remains, the majority of which is in the Flint
Hills region. The site is significant for its association with the history of the cattle
industry as well as its characteristic native tallgrass prairie.

This Historic Structures Report will recommend general and specific preservation
treatments for the Spring Hill Ranch House, springhouse/curing room, barn, Lower Fox
Creek Schoolhouse, outhouse, icehouse/cistern, carriage house, and poultry house in the
Tallgrass Prairie National Preserve. Recommendations will be given with the objective
of treating the complex in a consistent, integrated manner. Alternatives developed for the
property build on the historical significance and integrity defined in the strategic vision of
the General Management Plan of December 2000, and in the draft Cultural Landscape
Report, Part 2, of April 2001.

General Building Description

The land constituting the Tallgrass Prairie National Preserve is known locally as the Z
Bar Ranch and includes the land of the Spring Hill Farm and Stock Ranch that Stephen
Jones, a stock raiser from Colorado, established in August of 1878. Jones participated in
a key period of the nation’s economic and developmental history through his
accumulation of nearly 7,000 acres of land, upon which he raised thousands of head of
cattle. In addition, he cultivated more than three hundred acres of property. He began
constructing his residence in 1880 and completed the elaborate Late Victorian Second
Empire mansion, along with numerous outbuildings, in 1881.

Not only is the breadth of historic resource types well represented at the ranch, but the
overall integrity of the materials and design is of the highest level. The consistent
utilization of native white limestone may accurately reflect the wealth available to make a
capital investment over a single, short-term period of construction. The limestone
construction of many of the buildings emphasizes the fact that the ranch operated as a
unit, rather than as the separate buildings that comprise it. The contributing buildings,
structures, and sites collectively compose an entity, a late nineteenth century enclosed
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cattle ranch and headquarters, which serves as an exemplary model of the way of life on
the southern plains of the United States. It is also an outstanding representation of the
transition from open range to enclosed holdings of the large cattle companies of the
1880s. This aspect of the nation’s history is not represented by any other property in this
part of the plains. The Spring Hill Ranch House and barn are currently open for tours and
also house rangers' offices, an office for the National Park Trust (primary preserve
property owner), and a gift shop.

Administrative Background

The Spring Hill Ranch House was listed on the National Register of Historic Places in
1971 and the Lower Fox Creek Schoolhouse in 1974,

In 1994, the nonprofit National Park Trust purchased the 10,894-acre Spring Hill/Z Bar
Ranch. Under congressional legislation in 1996, the Tallgrass Prairie National Preserve
became the first national park unit devoted to protecting, preserving, and interpreting the
tallgrass prairie. According to Title X, the National Park Service was allowed, by
donation, to acquire not more than 180 acres of the preserve. Cooperative management
of the preserve in conjunction with the property owner was also required.

In 1997, the entire 10,894 acres was designated as a National Historic Landmark. At this
time, the National Park Service set up a site superintendent and a core of administrative
and interpretive staff members.® In 2000, the National Park Service published a General
Management Plan (GMP) and Environmental Impact Statement? that will guide park
management decisions for the next 10-15 years.

In 2002, the National Park Trust donated 32.25 acres (the ranch headquarters and
Schoolhouse areas) to the Federal Government. Eventually, up to 180 acres may be
owned by the Federal Government.

Project Team Members

Following the objectives of the park, the National Park Service, Midwest Regional
Office, engaged the professional services of Quinn Evans | Architects (QEA), an
architectural firm specializing in historic preservation, to review documentary materials
relating to the history and evolution of the Tallgrass Prairie National Preserve, and to
conduct a comprehensive survey of the Spring Hill Ranch House, springhouse/curing

1 Al O’Bright, Fire Protection Assessment Report: Ranch House, Tallgrass Prairie National Preserve,
Chase County, Kansas, (Omaha, Nebraska: Midwest Regional Office, National Park Service, 29 June
2001).

2 National Park Service staff, General Management Plan, Environmental Impact Statement: Tallgrass
Prairie National Preserve, Kansas, (Omaha, Nebraska: Midwest Regional Office, National Park Service,
U.S. Department of the Interior, December 2000).
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room, barn, Lower Fox Creek Schoolhouse, outhouse, icehouse/cistern, carriage house,
and poultry house.

Team members who provided support to Quinn Evans | Architects included Fitzpatrick
Structural Engineering, P.C. for structural engineering, Affiliated Engineers Incorporated
(AEI) for plumbing, mechanical, electrical, and communications systems, Gage Babcock
& Associates (GBA) for security and life safety evaluation, LCA Associates for
comparative analysis and architectural significance evaluation, Bluewater Studio for paint
analysis, and R.W. Brown & Associates for cost estimating. This team has gathered
information, in addition to that which had been previously researched and collected, to
formulate strategies for repair and to recommend long range goals for the preservation of
the nationally significant structures in the ranch headquarters area. The results of this
investigative research and documentation are contained in this Historic Structures Report.

Report Summary
The report is organized in the following manner:

Summary

Presents statement of purpose, general building description, administrative
background, project team members, report summary, investigation history and
methodology, and executive summary.

Part 1: Developmental History
A. Historical Background and Context

Documents historic photographs and drawings, and general site history. Presents
a comparative analysis of the Ranch House style and materials with those of the
time, and an architectural significance analysis of the exterior and interior.

B: Building Chronology

Presents and analyzes historic building chronology information as derived from
the historic and physical investigation.

C: Existing Conditions

Presents, analyzes and evaluates for the subject buildings existing site context,
exterior envelope, interior finishes and elements, structural systems, plumbing
systems, heating and cooling systems, electrical and lighting systems,
communications systems, security systems, life safety, and accessibility.

Part 2: Treatment and Use
D: General
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Provides design philosophy, and preservation and historic structure management
strategy for the buildings.

E: Treatment and Alternatives

Proposes design alternatives for the appropriate treatment of ranch house,
springhouse/curing room, barn, Lower Fox Creek Schoolhouse, outhouse,
icehouse/cistern, carriage house, and poultry house. Proposes recommendations
pertaining to exterior envelope, interior finishes and elements, structural systems,
security systems, life safety, and accessibility.

F: Research Recommendations
Provides recommendations for further building or site area investigations.

Appendices

Includes bibliography, drawings for existing conditions and proposed design
recommendations, paint analysis report, lead paint testing report, cistern coring
report, list of historic buildings/structures, Class B cost estimate, and a report on
the bedrock associated with the ranch house.

Investigation History and Methodology

The task of preserving an historic building requires that a preservation architect follow a
disciplined approach to documenting and analyzing information. This is accomplished
by utilizing investigative procedures, specialists in materials and construction
methodology, scientific technology and various resources, documents, and photographs
to begin to understand and compile the history of the historic resource.

Before determining the preservation concept, the preservation team studied in depth the
provided documentary materials relating to the ranch house, barn, outbuildings, and site,
including historical backgrounds and photographs. A thorough survey was undertaken to
document architectural characteristics and construction techniques in order to gain insight
into the construction and evolution of the Tallgrass Prairie National Preserve. To further
record existing conditions, photographs were taken and drawings were prepared from the
survey and from information provided by the Park Service.

This report is based on documentary evidence collected to date, limited physical probing
and architectural inspection. Of necessity, the research process is not concluded with the
completion of this report. Rather, it will be supplemented in the future by further
information gathered through additional investigation, and by subsequent documents and
information as they are discovered.
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Executive Summary

The period of national significance for the Spring Hill Ranch, as defined in the National
Historic Landmark designation, extends from the first purchases of the properties by
Stephen Jones in 1878 through 1904, when Bernard “Barney” Lantry’s surviving sons
sold off the ranch lands. The Historic Resource Study, completed in 2000, and the draft
Cultural Landscape Report, ongoing, suggest that both the 19" and 20™ century resources
are significant at a state and local level and coincide with the development and decline of
the railroads and their relationship to the resource until cattle shipment shifted to trucks in
the 1960s through 1970.

The period of significance for the Spring Hill/Z Bar Ranch, for the purpose of this report,
can be defined as 1878 to 1970 as a basis for treatment recommendations identified for
resource structures. In particular, this Historic Structure Report (HSR) will place the
highest priority on preserving the features that contribute to the National Historic
Landmark period of significance, while respecting those features that have gained
importance through association with the extended period of significance.

The proposed action defined for the Preferred Alternative in the General Management
Plan and Environmental Impact Statement (GMP), is the integration of the management
of the natural and cultural resources of the preserve. The intended use as an interpretive
site along with the juxtaposition of the expanded period of significance renders
preservation the overriding treatment according to The Secretary of Interior’s Standards
for the Treatment of Historic Properties. Preservation, according to the standards, is
defined as the act or process of applying measures necessary to sustain the existing form,
integrity, and materials of an historic property. Work, including preliminary measures to
protect and stabilize the property, generally focuses upon the ongoing maintenance and
repair of historic materials and features rather than extensive replacement and new
construction. The limited and sensitive upgrading of mechanical, electrical, and plumbing
systems and other code-required work to make properties functional is appropriate within
a preservation project. The character defining features, materials, spaces, and uses of the
core buildings and adjacent cultural landscape are essentially intact and can be utilized,
with minor accommodations, to convey the broad history of ranching in the Flint Hills.

The treatment recommendations, along with the proposed drawings, focus on preserving
the Spring Hill/Z-Bar Ranch property by maintaining its significance and authenticity in
terms of historic and architectural character, and introducing sensitive modifications to
allow for barrier free accessibility, resolution to site drainage issues, and upgrading of
building systems to respond to current codes deficiencies.
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Historic Photographs and Drawings

An effort has been made to include all available significant historical images of the site and historic
structures. These photographs and drawings are presented in sections by structure. Within each
section they are presented roughly chronologically and in order by room. See Appendix B, Existing
Conditions drawings (EXA-), for room names, room numbers, and door and window numbers. In
some cases images are grouped for the purposes of comparison.

1. Ranch Site

This lithograph, Figure A1-1 and Al-1a, is the earliest known image of the Spring Hill Ranch. It
depicts the barn with the attached windmill to the north. The ranch house is shown complete with front
porch, porch wings, rear porch, stone walls, and terraces in front. One path leads to the front (east)
door, and one path leads to the rear (west) porch on the south side. There are no buildings between
the barn and ranch house other than a small building with a pyramidal roof, at the top of the drive,
which is too small and too far east to be the current carriage house or other known building. West of
the ranch house, the ice house and cistern are visible. This lithograph, as well as the lithograph on the
next page, appears to take artistic license, or shows what the owner had intended, rather than what
was built. The small structure, for example, just north of the ranch house depicts a one-story building
aligning with the east face of the ranch house. In addition, a door or window opening is depicted in the
center of this elevation. This graphic interpretation does not match what is known to exist at this
location.

Figure A1-1: Spring Hill Ranch, from the south, from The Kansas Picture Book, 1883.

Figure Al-1a: Enlarged detail.
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Figure A1-2: Spring Hill Ranch, from the east, from the Official State Atlas of Kansas, 1887.

This lithograph is a fairly accurate rendering of the Spring Hill Ranch, with its imposing stone
terraces leading up to the house. The ranch house and barn are substantially as they are today.
Despite the publication date of the book (1887), the lithograph depicts the renowned windmill, which
was dismantled around 1884, perhaps again taking artistic license. Italso shows arched openings into
the second level of the barn. These openings are no longer arched, but physical evidence has con-
firmed that the upper parts of the openings were rebuilt at one time. Wooden structures, possibly
houses, are shown to the southeast of the barn. A small stone building sits at the top of the drive
between the barn and ranch house, similar to the one depicted in the 1883 lithograph. This stone
building may have been an early carriage house or gatehouse. The mansard roof of the ranch house is
topped by cast-iron cresting. The tunnel entrance, between the ranch house and springhouse, is
shown with a window above the door and a pyramidal roof. The entrance to the curing room is shown
on the east facade of the springhouse/curing room, probably for artistic composition purposes; the
current entrance is on the west facade and there is no physical evidence of an east entrance. Between
the barn and ranch house, the poultry house is shown, but not the current carriage house. The icehouse
has a dormer on the north slope of the roof. The stone terrace walls in front of the ranch house are in
adifferent configuration than in the 1883 lithograph.

14 Historical Background and Context
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Figure A1-3: Spring Hill Ranch, from the east, Kruxo postcard, ca. 1908.

This is the earliest known photograph of the ranch. From what can be seen, the ranch house is as it
appears today, although the roof is a light color. The cast-iron cresting appears to be gone. The barn
appears without the windmill but with the extended north middle dormer shed. There isawooden
structure to the southwest of the barn. Behind the ranch house, the north dormer on the roof of the
icehouse can be seen. The poultry house appears but not the carriage house, and there is no small
stone building at the top of the main drive, as depicted in the lithographs.

Figure Al1-3a: Enlarged detail.
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Figure A1-4: Spring Hill Ranch, from the southeast, Kinucan collection, ca. 1930s.

This photograph is the first that shows both the poultry house and the carriage house, and there is an
additional wooden structure north of them. The ranch house rear porch south door can be seen. The
icehouse cupola appears to be missing. The first floor windows on the barn east facade are the original
full height, both silos are present, and there is a wooden structure west of the barn.

Figure A1-5: Spring Hill Ranch, from the southeast, Burtis collection, prior to 1983.

This photograph shows the icehouse, Quonset hut, carriage house, poultry house, barn and a structure
to the west of the barn. There is only one silo. The barn has been modified with the two cupolas on the
roof, and the first floor east windows have been shortened.

16 Historical Background and Context
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Figure A2-1: Spring Hill
Ranch House, from the
southeast, Kinucan col-
lection, ca. 1930s.

In this photograph the roof
appears lighter than in the
next photograph. Edith W.
Benninghoven and two
unknown women appear
in the foreground. The
cast-iron cresting is gone
from the roof.

Figure A2-2: Ranch
house, east elevation,
Benninghoven collection,
ca. 1920s or 30s.

The Benninghoven collec-
tion was donated to the
National Park Service by
Deone Benninghoven in
1998.

This photograph of the
ranch house shows the
dark (red) roof with con-
trasting (white) roping,
original wooden stormwin-
dows, louvered oculus,
and missing "'J" crest.

17
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Figure A2-3: Ranch hands outside the rear porch, from the south-
west, Benninghoven collection, ca. 1930s.

The rear porch is shown here with two screen doors. Small windows are
next to both doors. Fritz and Theodore Benninghoven are on the extreme
right.

Figure A2-4: Curt Benning-
hoven outside the rear
porch, from the west,
Benninghoven collection, ca.
1930s.

This photograph shows the ex-
isting rear porch in apparently
new condition. Itappears as
though there is no foundation
wall next to the steps.

18 Historical Background and Context
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Figure A2-5: Edith, Daniel and Curt Benninghoven south of the rear
porch, from the south, Benninghoven collection, ca. 1930s.

South entrance of the rear porch, steps, and stone path are visible.

Figure A2-6: Edith Wilson Benninghoven (top row, second from left),
Enas Wilson (boy next to her), Pat Wilson (girl in front row), and
others on the front porch, Warnken-Bourland donation, ca. 1942.

The Warnken-Bourland collection was donated to the National Park Ser-
vice by Anna Warnken, who had been given a photograph by her mother
Glady Bourland. This group photograph was taken during a Home Dem-
onstration Unit meeting of area residents.

Historical Background and Context

Historic Structures Report
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Figure A2-7: Ranch house, east
elevation, Burtis (Tax Credit) col-
lection, ca. 1983.

The Burtis collection was donated
to the National Park Service by
Orville Burtis in May 1999. These
photographs were used to docu-
ment the rehabilitation that took
place from 1983-1986. The pho-
tos labeled "tax credit" were part of
the Historic Preservation Certifica-
tion Application for tax credits.

Figure A2-8: Ranch house, east
elevation, Burtis (Tax Credit) col-
lection, 1986.

Figure A2- 9: Ranch house, east
elevation, QEA 1997.

The roof is white (or light) in
1983, although this might be a
primer. The vertical roping on the
roof is present in 1986 but not in
1997. Rectangular storm win-
dows have been added to the sec-
ond and third floors by 1983, and
to the first floor by 1997.
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Figure A2-10: Ranch house, from
the northwest, Burtis (Tax Credit)
collection, 1986.

Figure A2-11: Ranch house, from
the northwest, QEA 1997.

Figure A2-12: Ranch house and
curing room, from the west,
Burtis collection, ca. 1983.

The curing room is missing its cu-
pola.
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Figure A2-13: Ranch house rear porch, from the south, Burtis
(Tax Credit) collection, ca. 1983.

The south door of the rear porch has been replaced by a window.

Figure A2-14: Ranch house rear porch, from the southwest,
Burtis (Tax Credit) collection, 1986.

The small windows on either end of the rear porch (extreme left
and extreme right in this photograph) were removed some time
before 1997.
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Figure A2-15: Ranch house, from the southeast, Burtis (Tax
Credit) collection, ca. 1983.

Figure A2-16: Ranch house, from the southeast, QEA 1997.
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Figures A2-17 and 18: Tunnel wall, from the
northeast. Fig.17, top: Burtis collection, ca.
1983; 18: Burtis (Tax Credit) collection, ca.
1986.

The east wall of the tunnel was repaired and raised
by a course. The cap stones no longer line up
with the narrow course on the entrance tower. In
the lower photo, stones, possibly from the repair,
have been placed in the grass to form a planter.

Figure A2-19: Root cellar roof, construction debris, from the
south, Burtis collection, ca. 1983.

This construction debris is probably from the renovation of kitchen 205,
since a kitchen sink, sheet flooring, a cabinet drawer, and substantial
amounts of lath are visible.
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Figure A2-20: Hall 101 and view of front
doors, from the west, on landing, Kinucan
collection, ca. 1935.

The Kinucan collection was donated to the Na-
tional Park Service by Edith Seyfert Kinucanon
1 April 1998. Her aunt was Edith Wilson
Kinucan. Itis speculated that these photographs
may have been taken upon foreclosure of the
property by Prudential Life Insurance Company
in 1935.

Figure A2-21: South parlor 102, looking
southeast, Kinucan collection, ca. 1935.

The room, with vines growing in through the
windows, dirt, droppings and debris, appears
abandoned in this photograph. Base molding
and possibly two lights on either side of the
bay window are missing. Crown molding was
originally decoratively painted throughout the
house, which is evident in this room.
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Figure A2-22: Old kitchen 105, from the southwest, Kinucan collection, ca. 1935.

The kitchen appears to be used as a utility room. The sink on the north
wall is probably original. The purpose of the opening in the ceiling is

unknown.

Figure A2-23: Spring house 108, from the southeast, Kinucan collection, ca. 1935.
The spring house appears to be in disrepair. The north circular vent/window is blocked.
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Figure A2-24: Rear porch 207, from the north, Kinucan collection, ca. 1935.

The porchisscreened. It contains a pump on the right of the photograph
and a washing machine on the south wall. The roof structure visible is
identical to what is there currently.

Figure A2-25: North room 203, from the southeast, Kinucan collection, ca. 1935.
Gas heater, telephone, and victrola are visible. Light fixture is electric adapted from gas.
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Figure A2-26: North room 203, from the north, Kinucan collection, ca. 1935.

Figure A2-27: West room 204, from the northeast, Kinucan collection, ca. 1935.

Window sills and wall base are the original wood color. The room
does not appear to be decorated as a dining room.
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Figure A2-28: West room 204, from the southwest, Kinucan collection, ca. 1935.

The built-in cupboard between the two doors is not the same as the present, since the north wall of the
room was moved after this photograph. The gas heater shown on the north wall was probably moved
for the purposes of the photograph; it would have been connected to the pipes visible on the east wall
of the room. The butler's pantry 205, just visible through the door on the left, contains simple shelving
on the north wall. It appears to be a narrow rectangular room.

Figure A2-29: West room 204, from the southeast, Kinucan collection, ca. 1935.

The north wall in this photograph is about 2'-6" from the window. Because this wall was moved
27" south between 1935 and 1939, the cupboards shown no longer exist. The butler's pantry 205 is
visible through the doorway.
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Figure A2-30: West bedroom 304, from the northeast, Kinucan collection, ca. 1935.

Window sills and wall base are painted (white). There is a gas pipe
at the south wall but no heater connected.

Figure A2-31: North bedroom 303, from the east, Kinucan collection, ca. 1935.
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Figure A2-32: Bathroom 305, from the southeast, Kinucan collection, ca. 1935.

The old tub, reportedly tin, copper, and wood, is on the north wall. An elevated
tank or cistern to the left (on the south wall) fed the tub through pipes over the
window casing.

Figure A2-33: Hall 306, from
the south, Kinucan collection,
ca. 1935.

The exhaust duct shown leads
from the north bedroom to the
chimney. There is a similar
duct in the bathroom vestibule
visible through the door. The
walls of the hall do not appear
to be papered.
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Figure A2-34: North
parlor 103, facing
northeast, Burtis (Tax
Credit) collection, ca.
1983.

The arch leading to the north bay window suffered repeated water damage. At the north bay window,
there is crown molding at the decorative arch only on the north parlor side, as opposed to the "bay"
side. At the south parlor bay window, there is crown molding on both sides of the arch.

Figure A2-35: North parlor 103 arch, looking up,
Burtis (Tax Credit) collection, ca. 1983.

Via access holes cut through the plaster in 2002, the
structure of the arch was determined. At this location
there are two wood beams supporting the floor struc-
ture and wall above. One of these beams was treated
with creosote and was most likely a replacement
beam.
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Figure A2-36: Bathroom 104, from the east, Burtis
(Tax Credit) collection, ca. 1986.

A gas heater is shown venting out the under-porch
window. The shower is shown after bathroom re-
modeling.

Figure A2-37: Old kitchen 105 and back door 206A
, from the southwest, Burtis (Tax Credit) collec-
tion, ca. 1983.
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Figures A2-38 and 39: Kitchen 205, from the
east, Burtis (Tax Credit) collection, ca. 1983.

In style and material this kitchen appears to
date to the 1930s; it is assumed that it dates to
the 1938 renovation. The south wall has been
moved to expand the size of the room. The
south and west walls are covered in masonite
faux tile; the stove probably sat under the vent
shown. The floor is linoleum or sheet vinyl. The
kitchen is empty, probably just prior to renova-
tion.

Figures A2-40 and 41: Kitchen 205, from the
west, Burtis (Tax Credit) collection, ca. 1983.

The east wall is painted and contains two
vents, one of which is visible under the fold-out
table. The fold-out table is said to have been
made out of the inoperative dumbwaiter. There
is a recess on the right where the overhead cabi-
nets end that is not shown in the Figure A2-28.
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Figure A2-42: Kitchen 205,
from the southeast, Burtis
(Tax Credit) collection, prior
to 1983.

In this photograph the kitchen
is in use and thus may be
slightly older than other the
Burtis Tax Credit photographs.

Figures A2-43 and 44: Kitchen 205, from the south, Burtis (Tax Credit)
collection, ca. 1983.

The recess on the east wall is visible to the right. The fold-out table has been
removed from the east wall.
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Figure A2-45: Kitchen 205,
from the east, Burtis (Tax
Credit) collection, ca. 1983.

The kitchen ceiling during the
1983-84 renovation. Gypsum
board has been installed in the
ceiling.

Figure A2-46: Kitchen 205,
from the north, Burtis (Tax
Credit) collection, ca. 1983.

The south wall has been re-
wired and refaced with gyp-
sum board.
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Figures A2-47 and 48: Kitchen 205,
from the south, Burtis (Tax Credit)
collection, ca. 1983.

Traces of the older cabinets and wall
can be seen. The floor has been
patched.

Figure A2-49: Kitchen 205 and back
door 206A, from the west, Burtis (Tax
Credit) collection, ca. 1983.

The east wall of the kitchen has been
demolished. The stair to old kitchen
105 is behind the plywood partition.
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Figure A2-51: Bathroom 305, closet door
305A, from the west, Burtis (Tax Credit) col-
lection, ca. 1983.

During renovation of the bathroom the door has
been stripped of its paint in preparation for
grain-painting.

Figure A2-50: Window sill in west
room 204, from the east, Burtis
(Tax Credit) collection, ca. 1983.

The sill and base molding are
painted (white). The wall is pa-
pered.

Figure A2-52: Bathroom 305, from the east,
Burtis (Tax Credit) collection, ca. 1986.

The west wall of the bathroom is shown after reno-
vation with wall paper, toilet, new shower and
closet 305C on the left.
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3. Barn

Figure A3-1: Detail of barn, from the northeast, from the Of-
ficial State Atlas of Kansas, 1887.

The barn is pictured with the windmill and a stone base under
an extended middle dormer on the north facade. No traces of
the pyramid-roofed building at the top of the drive have been
found.

Figure A3-2: Barn, from the northeast, Benninghoven collection, ca. 1920s.

This is the earliest known close-up photograph of the barn. The east facade of the barn has two
taller windows on the first floor. Two concrete stave silos are present.
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Figure A3-3: Barn, from the northeast, Kinucan collection, ca. 1935.

This photograph shows detail of the north facade of the barn. The windmill is gone and a
wooden shed structure has been built on the north side of the barn. The roof is wood shingle

with tin clad dormer sides.
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Figure A3-4: Barn, from the east, Adair collection, prior to 1947.

The wooden shed with chute is visible on the north side of the barn. The two silos and extended
middle north dormer are still present. The windows on the first floor of the barn are their
original full height. The clipped gable is not visible because of the angle of the photograph, and
therefore whether or not the cupolas are present is impossible to determine.

Figure A3-5: Detail of west wall of the barn,
Burtis collection, ca. 1983.

The added door 101 and wood lintel on the first
floor is visible in this photograph behind the cor-
rals.
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Figure A3-6: Barn, from the northeast, Burtis (Tax Credit) collection, ca. 1983.
The barn before the tax credit repairs were conducted. Note that the main north entrances are no
longer arched, and the cupolas have been added.

Figures A3-7 and 8: Barn cistern, from the north and the northwest, Burtis collection, ca. 1983.

The cistern parging is cracked. A pipe runs around the cistern from the east side to the collection
pipe on the west. The gutter on the west feeds into the collection pipe.

Figure A3-9: Barn middle dormer, from the east,
Burtis (Tax Credit) collection, ca. 1983.

The middle dormer on the north side of the barn
is shown here in its shortened form. Cut floor
joists are visible where the dormer meets the cis-
tern roof.
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Figure A3-10: Barn, from the northeast, Burtis (Tax Credit) collection, ca. 1986.
The barn after the tax credit repairs. The dormers have been sided with wood shingle.

Figure A3-11: Barn cistern, from the northwest,
Burtis (Tax Credit) collection, ca. 1986.

The parging has been redone, the collection pipe
replaced, and the gutter has been disconnected
from the pipe.

Figures A3-12: Barn, from the west, Burtis  Figure A3-13: Barn, from the southeast, Burtis
(Tax Credit) collection, ca. 1986. (Tax Credit) collection, ca. 1986.

The first floor windows are visible in their
shortened version.
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Figure A3-14: Barn, from the northeast, QEA 1998.

Historical Background and Context



Tallgrass Prairie National Preserve
Historic Structures Report

4. Lower Fox Creek Schoolhouse

Figure A4-1: Schoolhouse, from the southeast, Chase County
Leader-News (1972), ca. 1882.

The original belfry is shown. There is a chimney on the west
wall.

Figure A4-2: Schoolhouse, from the east, year unknown.

There was a stair leading up past a retaining wall directly east
of the school. The gable was clearly higher at this time than

currently.
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Figure A4-3: Schoolhouse, from the south, Chase County Leader-News, 1972.

The gable is lower and the roof is tin. Both the belfry and chimney have been
removed.
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Figure A4-4: Schoolhouse, from the southeast, QEA 1997.

The south steps had not yet been replaced at the time of this photograph.
The belfry replacement does not match the original.

Figure A4-5: Schoolhouse, from the east, QEA 1998.

The southeast steps have been replaced, and the lowered gable can be
clearly seen.
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5. Outhouse

Figure A5-1: Outhouse, from the south, Burtis (Tax Credit) Figure A5-2: Outhouse, from the
collection, ca. 1983. east, detail from the Official State
Atlas of Kansas, 1887.

Figure A5-2: Outhouse, from the south,
Burtis (Tax Credit) collection, ca. 1986.

The cupola has been repaired.
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Figure A6-1: Icehouse (upper
left), tunnel entrance,
springhouse, and outhouse, from
the east, detail from the Official
State Atlas of Kansas, 1887.

The icehouse has a large dormer
to the north, above the location of
the original door.

Figure A6-2: Icehouse, from the south, Burtis
(Tax Credit) Collection, ca. 1983.

The cupola is missing. The new entrance is
located on the south facade.

Figure A6-3: Icehouse, from the south, Burtis
(Tax Credit) Collection, ca. 1986.
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Figure A6-4: Icehouse, from the northwest, QEA 1998.

Figure A6-5: Cistern, from the east, QEA 1998.
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7. Carriage House
Figure A7-1: Carriage house detail, from the
southeast, Kinucan Collection, ca. 1935.

The gable window has four lights in this pho-
tograph. The wood-frame structure behind
the carriage house is unidentified.

Figure A7-2: Carriage house,
from the southeast, Burtis (Tax
Credit) Collection, ca. 1983.

The gable window has eight lights
at the time of this photograph.

Figure A7-3: Carriage house,
from the south, Burtis (Tax Credit)
Collection, ca. 1986.
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8. Poultry House

Figures A8-1 and 2: Poultry
house, from the south and the
southeast, Burtis (Tax Credit)
Collection, ca. 1986.

Figure A8-3: Poultry and car-
riage houses, from the south, QEA
1997.
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General Site History

The land constituting the Tallgrass Prairie National Preserve is known locally as the Z
Bar Ranch, and includes the land of the Spring Hill Ranch that Stephen Jones, a stock
raiser from Colorado, established in August of 1878. The Preserve is situated within the
Kansas Flint Hills, two miles north of Strong City on Kansas Highway 177 in Chase
County in east-central Kansas. The Spring Hill Ranch House is located on the eastern
edge of Section 31, Township 18 South, Range 8 East.!

The progenitor of Stephen Jones, the Welshman Robert Jones, came to Massachusetts
around 1636. At the end of the seventeenth century, some of the family moved south to
Virginia. Erasmus Jones Il (Jr.), was born in Virginia in 1799, and moved to Tennessee
where he married Christina Bond in 1824. Stephen Fuqua Jones was born in 1826 as the
second of thirteen children of Erasmus and Christina Jones® who lived southeast of
Nashville, Tennessee, in what is today Cannon County.® In 1849, at age 23, Stephen
Jones moved to Alabama where he worked on a cotton plantation. There he met, and in
November 1849 married, Louisa M. Barber, the sixteen-year-old daughter of Samuel R.
and Adeline Barber, a fairly well-to-do family in Tallapoosa County, northeast of
Montgomery, Alabama. Stephen and Louisa’s first child, a daughter, was born in
Tallapoosa County in 1850 or 1851 but she died in infancy.

Being a tight-knit family, the Jones’ extended family successively migrated west.
Stephen and Louisa Jones first moved to Van Zandt County, Texas, southeast of Dallas,
where a second daughter, Christina Anna Jones, was born in February 1853. The family
next bought land in Parker County, just west of modern Fort Worth, where both of
Stephen Jones’ parents were buried on their own land.* Stephen and Louisa’s third child,
Samuel E. (“Bud”) Jones, was born here in April 1856. A fourth child, their second son,
Charles H. Jones, was born in October 1859.

Stephen Jones did not serve in the Army of the Confederate States of America although
his five brothers did. Instead, he was in the Parker County Volunteer Home Guard
formed to protect residents along the frontier from Indians and roughnecks who took
advantage of the general lawlessness resulting from the withdrawal of United States
Army troops to fight in the Civil War.®

! Deon K. Wolfenbarger and Dale Nimz, “National Historic Landmark Nomination Form, Spring Hill
Ranch,” (Prepared for the National Park Service, 12 April 1996), 7.

2 Hal K. Rothman & Associates, Historic Resource Study, Tallgrass Prairie National Preserve [95% draft]
(Omaha, Nebraska: Midwest Regional Office, National Park Service, September 1999), 113-114.

® 1n 1841, the county was named Wise County but was later divided; the Jones family lived in the portion
that is today Cannon County. Julia and Edward Hobbs, volunteers who have researched the Jones family at
the Tallgrass Prairie National Preserve, provided this information.

* Rothman & Associates, Historic Resource Study, 114.

® Chase County, Kansas, newspaper listings of area residents who served in the Civil War never included
Stephen F. Jones. Furthermore, no Stephen F. Jones appears in The Roster of Confederate Soldiers, 1861-
1865 (1996). Julia Hobbs provided this information.
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During the war, the Texas cattle population multiplied due to their isolation from outside
markets. Under Texas law, cattle belonged to anyone who claimed and branded them.
Due to the abundance of cattle in Texas, and demand in other parts of the country, cattle
traffic to northern shipping points could net twenty times the Texas price. However,
since the traveling herds often brought diseases such as the “Texas fever” to farmers
along their route, several states passed quarantine laws that prohibited the passage of
animals from Texas. In 1867, a cattle-shipping railhead opened at Abilene, Kansas, in
the middle of the Great Plains. When the Kansas Governor was persuaded to ignore the
quarantine laws against transient Texas cattle, Texas ranchers gained easy access to cattle
transportation north.®

In 1867, Stephen and Louisa Jones’ second son, Charles, died. In the same year, their
daughter Christina Anna married Calvin (“Wit”) Adare. She was only fourteen and the
young couple followed their families to the Colorado Territory the following year.” In
1868, Stephen Jones and his two brothers Peyton and James drove stock north, eventually
settling in southeastern Colorado near Fort Lyon, and then moved to Las Animas where
Stephen Jones did very well. In Colorado, their herd size increased to more than 15,000
animals. The family purchased the best house in town at a cost of $2,500, and
extensively redecorated the house spending perhaps one to two thousand more.® In
addition to ranching, Jones owned a hotel, livery stable, and half interest in a grocery
store. Stephen and Louisa Jones’s fifth and last child, Louisa M. (“Lutie”) Jones was
born on September 5, 1871. An indication of the Jones family’s increasing prosperity is a
mention in the April 19, 1878, edition of the Las Animas Leader that Louisa Jones had
acquired a piano, presumably for lessons for their daughter, Lutie.’

The Jones family held deep religious convictions. The April 26, 1878, edition of the Las
Animas Leader mentioned that Stephen Jones and a local minister had attended the
General Assembly of the Methodist Episcopal Church held in Atlanta, Georgia.® The
family’s strict religious beliefs forbade drinking alcohol, which may explain why the
Jones family did not attend the annual ball and banquet of the Live Stock Association of

® Rothman & Associates, Historic Resource Study, 115-116.

" Julia and Edward Hobbs provided this information.

& According to Julia Hobbs, the house had been built for a local merchant who was also provisioner for
wagon trains moving west.

® Kenneth L. Ames makes the point that pianos were both more expensive and more difficult to play than
parlor organs, which were widely available in the last quarter of the 19th century. Pianos were therefore
symbols of higher status. See Ames, “Material Culture as Non VVerbal Communication: A Historical Case
Study,” in Edith Mayo, American Material Culture (Bowling Green, OH: Bowling Green State University
Popular Press, 1984): 25-47.

10 Adeline Barber and her daughter, Louisa, had become Methodists in 1847. Stephen Jones joined the
Methodist Church South when he married Louisa, although he had been raised a Baptist. Julia Hobbs
provided this information. The Methodist Episcopal Church separated into two conferences, North and
South, in 1844 over the issues of slavery and the power of the bishops. The Churches were reunited in
1939. See Sydney E. Ahlstrom, A Religious History of the American People, (New Haven: Yale University
Press, 1972) pp. 661-663, and 921.
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Chase County [Kansas] even though Stephen Jones was president. It may also explain
why the only entertaining mentioned at the Spring Hill Ranch was for ten-year-old Lutie
and her young friends.**

In the late 1870s, they moved east again, this time to Kansas, in order to find grazing
property closer to the railheads for fattening the cattle before shipping. James Jones first
tried his luck with a Morris County property in 1877, but soon realized that it was too far
from a railhead. Stephen Jones then bought a 160-acre farm in Chase County, Kansas,
with land on both sides of Fox Creek, on August 28, 1878. He continued to buy
adjoining land and eventually owned 7,000 acres.** His cattle brand (N) was registered
on May 19, 1879, in Chase County.™

Their oldest son, Bud, had joined his father’s business with his own cattle outfit in
Colorado. In 1878, he was bitten by a rabid skunk and died in Weatherford, Texas, on
November 4.

Stephen Jones’ first property, two 80-acre plots, was originally homesteaded by John H.
and Elizabeth Scribner late in 1860. The Scribner family lived there in a log cabin for six
years, and then sold their land to William Barton on February 22, 1866, for $800. In
1873, Barton sold the land to John C. and Jamima Rocker and William M. Langston for
$2,000. In 1878, Stephen F. Jones paid $2,000 for the land of Rocker and Langston.**

The Jones family moved into a frame house on the property in January 1879, and lived
there less than three years. According to the 1880 federal census, Stephen F. Jones (age
53) and his wife, Louisa M. Jones (age 46), lived in the frame house along with their
daughter, Lutie M. (age 8), Becky Dean, niece and housekeeper (age 20), and John
Henly, foster son and laborer (age 21)."® Living nearby on the property - possibly in an
earlier log cabin - were the Williams family who were Black and had come from Texas.
There is some indication that George Williams and his wife, Isabel, were originally
slaves of Samuel R. Barber, Louisa Jones’s father.!® The 1880 census identified the
family members as George W. Williams (age 47), described as laborer for Jones, Isabel

1 The February 18, 1886, edition of the Chase County Leader listed the attendees at the Stock Association
ball and the December 7, 1882, issue of the Strong City Independent noted that “Mrs. Jones had a gathering
last Saturday evening at which the young folks of the neighborhood had a fine time.” According to Julia
Hobbs, no other mention of entertaining at the house was found in the newspapers surveyed. Methodists
north and south were the chief supporters of the Anti-Saloon League that would help secure the passage of
the Eighteenth Amendment inaugurating prohibition in 1919. See Ahlstrom, A Religious History, p. 871.
12 Rothman & Associates, Historic Resource Study, 117-119.

13 Chase County Historical Society, Chase County Historical Sketches (1948), 39.

“ Rothman & Associates, Historic Resource Study, 117-119; Bahr Vermeer & Haecker Architects,
Cultural Landscape Report, 2-48 — 49.

5 Becky Dean was the daughter of one of Stephen Jones’s sisters. John Henly was related to the family by
marriage; he was the son of a sister of Witt Adare, husband of Christina Anna Jones. Julia Hobbs provided
this information.

18 Interview with Julia Hobbs, March 10, 2003.
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Williams (age 40) his wife, their son Toby (age 16), described as farm hand for Jones,
three girls (ages 7-12) daughters attending Lower Fox Creek School, and three boys (ages
2-6) described only as “sons.” Lutie Jones attended the same Lower Fox Creek School as
the Williams girls.*

Figure A9-1: Photograph of Stephen Jones.  The
photograph is from an album provided by the National
Park Service. The photo was taken in Emporia, KS,
possibly in 1879-1880.

In 1881, Stephen Jones (Figure A9-1) completed the construction of the Spring Hill
Ranch House at the Spring Hill Ranch, overlooking Fox Creek Valley. The contractor
was David Rettiger, who owned the stone quarry north of Strong City, and who had built
the Chase County Courthouse in 1871-73. Jones’ buildings were in the style of the
county courthouse, thus also sharing an association in the public mind.*® The eleven-
room, three-story, mansard-roofed mansion was built in the Late Victorian Second
Empire style of the nineteenth century. It was built with locally quarried white limestone,
set upon several stone terraces. The name “Spring Hill” came from the numerous natural
springs found on the ranch.*®

7 The January 15, 1880, edition of the Chase County Leader mentions the children attending the Lower
Fox Creek School. This information would seem to strengthen the argument that Stephen F. Jones was not
a strong proponent of the Confederacy in the Civil War. However, Jones was a member of the Methodist
Episcopal Church, South, formed in 1844 when the southern delegation seceded following the General
Conference and a split over abolition as well as doctrinal issues. The Methodist Episcopal Church, South,
continued to be successful in proselytizing among Black Americans during and after the Civil War. See
Ahlstrom, A Religious History, p. 717. A common bond in Methodism might help explain why, in
December 1882, Jones co-signed a note with George Williams so the Williams family could buy a house in
Strong City. It is also interesting that the 1880 census shows that Louisa Jones’s household “help” was her
niece and, contrary to expectations, Isabel Williams did not work outside her home. For the work of “help”
and a comparison with that of servant, see Faye E. Dudden, Serving Women: Household Service in
Nineteenth-Century America (Middletown CT: Wesleyan University Press, 1983).

18 Rothman & Associates, Historic Resource Study, 121.

9 Wolfenbarger and Nimz, “Landmark Nomination,” 4.
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The other dominant structure on the ranch, in addition to the mansion, was the
approximately 110x60 feet limestone barn. The barn contained stables on the ground
level, machinery and equipment storage on the second level, and a grain threshing and
storage space on the top level. The first floor could shelter about one hundred animals
during the winter, with a separate room to house Jones’ thoroughbred horses. The
additional outbuildings included a barrel-vaulted poultry house, outhouse, icehouse, and
cistern, all built of the native limestone. Over the next 70 years, the ranch would also
include a carriage house, ranchhand house, Quonset hut, pole barn, scale house, and three
sheds.

In 1882, the Lower Fox Creek Schoolhouse, also made of limestone, was built on Jones’
property. He donated the land with the stipulation that it would revert to the ranch if the
school closed. The school was completed and deed recorded on June 14, 1882, but there
was no teacher available until 1884.%° The school opened on September 1, 1884 with
Dora Peer as the first teacher. > The average enrollment was about five students.
Almost fifty years later, in 1930, the school closed and the building reverted to the ranch.
It was subsequently used for hay storage?” and ranch hand quarters.?

In 1884, the cattle boom reached its apex nationally. The 1885 Kansas State Agricultural
Census for Falls Township listed the residents of Spring Hill Farm & Stock Ranch as
Stephen Jones (age 58), Louisa Jones (age 52), Lutie Jones (age 13), a “16 year old white
student domestic,” and two male laborers 16 and 21 years of age.”* The domestic was
“help” who lived in the house while the two laborers probably occupied an outbuilding.

In 1886, a decade of drought began.?® The Jones family left Spring Hill this same year
when Lutie and her nieces, Nettie and Collie Adare, enrolled in school in Kansas City.
The September 9, 1886, edition of the Strong City Independent, reported Mr. and Mrs.
Jones were shipping furniture to Kansas City, which would be their temporary home
while the girls were in school. Two years later, the March 11, 1888, edition of the Strong
City Republican announced that “S.F. Jones and family left for Kansas City this week
where they will now make their permanent home.”

On February 13, 1888, Stephen Jones sold the ranch for $95,000 to his neighbor Bernard
Lantry, purportedly in order to give his daughter and two grandchildren a good education
by moving to Kansas City. The drought, and the fact that Jones’ only adult son died ten
years earlier, leaving him no heir to his cattle empire, may also have influenced his

20 Heather Brown, the National Park Service, email to QEA, 21 February 2003.

2! Rothman & Associates, Historic Resource Study, 165.

22 \Wolfenbarger and Nimz, “Landmark Nomination,” 26.

2 “TAPR Barn Equipment Assessment Notes” 28 January 1998, 8.

#* This information is from a notebook compiled for the guides by Julia and Edward Hobbs; the notebook
is in the collection of Spring Hill Farm & Stock Ranch.

 Rothman & Associates, Historic Resource Study, 139-140.
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decision.? Of their three daughters and two sons, only two of their daughters, Christina
Anna and Lutie, were still alive at this time. Louisa Jones died in 1908, and Stephen
Jones died in Wichita, Kansas, on April 7, 1914. Both were buried in the Prairie Grove
Cemetery, Chase County, Kansas.

Stephen Jones and Bernard Lantry represented two different ranching styles. Jones was a
born and bred cattleman who actively directed the property on which he lived. Lantry
lived on his Deer Park stock farm close to the Spring Hill Ranch but operated the ranch
through a manager.?’ In 1895, Lantry died of diabetes and left his property to his sons
Charles and Henry. In 1903, Charles sold his portion of the land to his brother Henry.
When Henry died in 1904, his family sold the land back to Charles, who started to sell his
father’s holdings.”®

On March 14, 1907,° Charles Lantry sold 9,682.55 acres including the Spring Hill
Ranch to C.C. and Nannie Patten of Reading, Kansas, for $180,636.92. The other part of
the ranch was sold to F.W. Freeman of the Merchants National Bank in Topeka on
January 13, 1908.%° Patten was an experienced farmer who continued to grow crops and
raise cattle. On February 28, 1910,* he in turn sold 1,080 acres including the Spring Hill
Ranch House and barn to Otto and Flora Benninghoven for $37,800 with $10,000 as
down payment. The other 8,602 acres were sold to Lester B. and Beulah Urschel for
$400,000 on April 6, 1921.%

The Benninghovens were the only family to own and live at Spring Hill since the Jones
family. After Otto Benninghoven’s death in 1917, his widow Flora worked the ranch and
paid off the mortgage. After the purchase, she ran the ranch with the help of her sons
Curt, Fritz, and Rhein. Over the years, the ranch shifted from pasture operations with a
large amount of farm products to farming.*

According to a family member, Curt Benninghoven directed the ranch operations.>* Curt
and his wife Edith Wilson Benninghoven lived in a wood-framed house south of the
ranch house. Edith raised turkeys and the ranch was sometimes referred to as the
“Benninghoven Turkey Ranch” (Figure A9-2). According to the 1937 annual agricultural
report, the Benninghoven ranch produced 500 to 1,000 turkeys annually.®® The turkey
sheds were located northwest of the ranchhand house. At Flora’s death in 1941, Curt and

% Rothman & Associates, Historic Resource Study, 140-141, 164.

%" Rothman & Associates, Historic Resource Study, 143.

%8 Rothman & Associates, Historic Resource Study, 161-162; Bahr, Vermeer & Haecker Architects,
Cultural Landscape Report, 2-60.

2 Heather Brown, email to QEA, 21 February 2003.

% plain Deeds, Chase County Courthouse, book 43, p 70-71.

*! plain Deeds, Chase County Courthouse, Index to Deeds, 1908-1922.

% Bahr Vermeer & Haecker Architects, Cultural Landscape Report, 2-77 — 2-78.
¥ Rothman & Associates, Historic Resource Study, 184-85.

* Bahr Vermeer & Haecker Architects, Cultural Landscape Report, 2-100.

% Bahr Vermeer & Haecker Architects, Cultural Landscape Report, 2-100.
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Edith moved into the Spring Hill Ranch House together with Edith’s niece and nephew,
Patricia and Enas Wilson. *® Flora’s obituary of 1941 is entitled “Well Known Resident
Dies in Kansas City.”*" Curt and Edith lived on the ranch until 1943 when they relocated
to Montana.®

Figure A9-2: Edith Benninghoven displaying her turkeys,
Benninghoven Collection, ca. 1939.

In 1929, the Great Depression hit America, followed by blizzards, drought, and soil
erosion on the Kansas prairie. The Benninghovens were forced to sell. On April 18,
1935,% the ranch was transferred to the Prudential Life Insurance Company, and then
sold to Kansas City grain dealer George H. Davis for $30,000 on May 7, 1935. ° The
Benninghoven family continued to live on the Spring Hill Ranch until 1943 as noted
above. They held the longest period of residency, 34 years.

In January of 1935, Davis bought the other part of the original Jones property from
Urschel. With the purchase of the Benninghoven land, the original Spring Hill and Deer
Park ranches were again united, now under the name of the Davis Ranch. The complete
Davis Ranch exceeded 70,000 acres and included other sites across Kansas.

Davis was another absentee owner, hiring a local ranch manager, Fred H. Howard, to
manage the Spring Hill Ranch in addition to three of his other ranches. Howard took up
residence at the Deer Park ranch and lived there from 1935 to 1970. Howard in turn

% According to Patricia Wilson Thorpe, Flora Benninghoven died shortly after she and her brother arrived
at Curt and Edith’s house in 1941. Edith Wilson Benninghoven was Patricia’s and Enas’ aunt. The
children came to live with Edith when the husband of Edith’s sister abandoned the family, forcing her sister
to place her five children with relatives. Her sister went to the University of Kansas in Lawrence, received
a degree in Home Economics, and took a job in Jackson Hole, Wyoming, where the children rejoined her.
Patricia Wilson Thorpe, interviewed by Heather Brown, Chief of Interpretation, Tallgrass Prairie National
Preserve, May 2003.

%7 Chase County News, Strong City, Kansas, April 16, 1941.

% patricia Wilson Thorpe, video interview, 1998.

% Bahr Vermeer & Haecker Architects, Cultural Landscape Report, 2-103.

“0 Bahr Vermeer & Haecker Architects, Cultural Landscape Report, 2-103.
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hired Hazel Slabaugh, a local cowboy, as his top ranch hand. Hazel and his wife Erma
lived at the Spring Hill Ranch House from 1943 or 1944 until 1968. Their son Marvin
Slabaugh was born in 1944.%

When Davis died in 1955, ranching operations continued under Howard until his death in
1970. At this time, the ranch was called the Davis-Nolan-Merrill Grain Company Ranch.
The new ranch manager, Hazel’s brother Gerald Slabaugh, moved into the ranch house in
1968, together with his wife Gladys and sons Roy and Ron. * Gerald retired and moved
out of the house in 1982, but continued to work part time until 1983. **

The Spring Hill Ranch House was listed in the National Register of Historic Places in
1971 and the Lower Fox Creek Schoolhouse in 1974.* In August 1975,% the Davis-
Nolan-Merrill Grain Company merged with the Z Bar Cattle Company. The company
name changed to the Z Bar Cattle Company and the ranch became known as the Z Bar
Ranch.

From 1982 to 1986, Don Jenkins was ranch manager and lived in the ranch house
together with his wife Peg and son Shane. Peg Jenkins initiated the remodeling of the
kitchen (205) and the bathroom (305) in the early 1980s.*°

From July 1983 to July 1986, an extensive rehabilitation of the ranch house, barn, and
outbuildings took place under Orville B. Burtis, Jr., president of the Z Bar Cattle
Company, who submitted a Historic Preservation Certification Application for tax
credits. * Sharon Hahn was one of the general contractors, and worked on restoring the
property in 1985-1986.

In 1985, the company decided to cease its cattle and ranch operations. The two surviving
stockholders, Orville Burtis Jr. and Elisabeth Merrill, voted to dissolve the corporation
and were bought out. Orville Burtis had worked for the Z Bar Ranch since 1947. On
November 26, 1986, the property was sold to the Trust Department of Boatmen’s First
National Bank of Kansas City. The bank leased the property for seasonal grazing.*

! Marvin Slabaugh, interviewed by Sharon LaRosa, August 5, 2003. According to Marvin, Erma and
Hazel’s son, they lived in the house when Marvin was born in 1944, and may have moved in as early as
1943.

%2 Colleen Slabaugh, interviewed by Sharon LaRosa, August 2003. Colleen and her husband (Gerald’s son
Ray), helped Gerald move into the house in 1968.

*% Colleen Slabaugh, interview.

* Wolfenbarger and Nimz, “Landmark Nomination,” 4.

** Heather Brown, email to QEA, 21 February 2003.

*® Interview with Shane Jenkins, son of Peg and Don Jenkins, May 28, 2001.

* Burtis, “Certification Application,” 31 October 1984.

*® Rothman & Associates, Historic Resource Study, 203-204.
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Establishment of Tallgrass Prairie National Preserve

A national interest in preserving grasslands first emerged during the 1920s. From 1930
to 1958, the broad concept of creating a grasslands national park gradually narrowed
down to a tallgrass prairie park, which was promoted as the “true prairie.”* Over the
years, many different locations were considered. In 1988, the focus turned to the 10,894-
acre Spring Hill/Z Bar Ranch located two miles north of Strong City, Kansas.>

In June of 1988, the National Audubon Society secured a two-year option to purchase the
ranch from the bank. Although the option expired and was never renewed, the Society’s
proposal that the property be purchased and designated as part of the National Park
System generated substantial local interest.™

From 1989 through 1991, the National Park Service, at the request of the Kansas
Congressional delegation, conducted a feasibility study to evaluate the Z Bar Ranch as a
potential addition to the National Park System.>* In May of 1991, a bill (H.R. 2369) was
introduced that would authorize the National Park Service to acquire the Z Bar Ranch.
The House Interior Committee approved this bill in September and the House of
Representatives in October of 1991. At this time, both Kansas Senators announced that
they would not support legislation authorizing the National Park Service to purchase and
manage the Z Bar Ranch. Without their support, the bill would not make it through the
Senate. However, Kansas Senator Nancy Kassebaum decided that she would support a
private foundation created to purchase the Z Bar Ranch. In 1992, the Kassebaum
commission, Spring Hill/Z Bar Ranch, Inc., was formed but the Boatmen’s Trust
Department rejected their purchase proposal and instead the National Park Trust got
involved.*

The National Park Trust was formed in 1983 by the National Parks and Conservation
Association in order to function as a nonprofit land trust. Encouraged by the Kansas
Congressional delegation, the Natio